

BYLAWS
OF
THE MARDA LOOP BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT AREA
Amended November 28, 2022

Section 1

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions - In these Bylaws:

- a) “Act” means the Municipal Government Act, R.S.A. 2000, c. M-26, as amended from time to time;
- b) “Annual General Meeting” means the Annual Ratepayer’s meeting required by these Bylaws to be held annually;
- c) “Associate Member” means institutions or individuals that are outside the boundaries of the BIA and are not Ratepayers, pursuant to these Bylaws;
- d) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Marda Loop Business Improvement Area;
- e) “BIA” means the Marda Loop Business Improvement Area;
- f) “Business Improvement Area” or “Area” means the area comprising the Business Improvement Area as established by Bylaw 52M84 of the City of Calgary;
- g) “Bylaws” means these Bylaws of the BIA, as amended from time to time;
- h) “President” means the President of the Board;
- i) “City Bylaw” means Bylaw 52M84 of The City of Calgary, as amended from time to time, which established the BIA;
- j) “Committee” means any committee established by the Board pursuant to these Bylaws and includes the Executive Committee;
- k) “Council” means the Council of The City of Calgary;
- l) “Directors” means the Directors of the Marda Loop BIA;
- m) “In-Camera Board Meeting” means any private meeting of the Board.

- n) “Ratepayer” means each taxable business, including any person, group of persons, partnership, association or corporation who is shown on the current assessment roll of The City of Calgary as being assessed for business assessment for one or more businesses located within the Marda Loop BIA;
- o) “Special Ratepayer’s Meeting” means any meeting of the Ratepayers other than the Annual General Meeting;
- p) “Representative” means a person representing a Ratepayer who is appointed by the Ratepayer in accordance with these Bylaws to represent the Ratepayer;
- q) “Special Resolution” means:
 - i) A resolution passed
 - (a) At an Annual General Meeting or Special Ratepayer’s Meeting;
 - (b) By the vote of not less than 66% of those Ratepayers who are present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at such meeting;
or
 - ii) A resolution consented to in writing by at least 66% of all of the Ratepayers who would have been entitled at an Annual General Meeting or Special Ratepayer’s Meeting to vote on the resolution in person.

1.2 Included Words - In these Bylaws, the singular shall include the plural and the plural the singular, the word “person” shall include corporations, societies and partnerships and words indicating a gender shall include all genders.

Section 2

BOUNDARIES AND OFFICE

2.1 The boundaries of the BIA shall be as stated in the City Bylaw, as amended from time to time, and shown in Appendix A to these Bylaws.

2.2 The office of the BIA shall be located in the City of Calgary, in the Province of Alberta.

2.3 The purpose of the BIA is as outlined in City of Calgary Bylaw 52M84 or any Bylaw that supersedes or amends Bylaw 52M84.

Section 3

RATEPAYERS

3.1 Address of Ratepayers - Whenever it is necessary or desirable for the Board to determine the name or address of Ratepayers for the purpose of giving any notice, determining entitlement to vote at any Special Ratepayer's Meeting, Annual General Meeting or for any other purpose, the Board may rely on the address in the current business assessment role of Ratepayers as provided by The City of Calgary. Notices may be delivered by another method such as email if the Ratepayer should request it

3.2 Representatives - A Ratepayer may designate a person to represent the Ratepayer at any Special Ratepayer's Meeting or Annual General Meeting. A memorandum, proxy form or letter verifying the appointment of the Representative and stating the term of such appointment, if any, must be received by the Board before the Representative is entitled to act. Such appointment shall be signed by and on behalf of the Ratepayer making the appointment. A Representative is entitled to exercise all of the rights and powers of the Ratepayer he or she represents as if he or she were the Ratepayer.

3.3 Ceasing to be a Representative - A Representative shall cease to represent a Ratepayer upon the happening of any one or more of the following events:

- a) the expiration of the period of his or her appointment, if any;
- b) a notice signed by the Ratepayer and submitted to the Board stating that the appointment of the Representative has been revoked;
- c) the resignation of the Representative by notice to the Board;
- d) the Ratepayer ceases to be a Ratepayer.

Section 4

RIGHTS OF RATEPAYERS

4.1 Votes - Each Ratepayer of the BIA in attendance or represented by proxy shall be entitled to one vote in respect of each matter to be decided at all Special Ratepayer's Meetings and Annual General Meetings.

4.2 Annual Meetings - Each Ratepayer may attend and participate at any Special Ratepayer's Meeting or Annual General Meeting.

4.3 Non-transferability - No right or privilege of any Ratepayer shall in any way be transferable or transmissible other than by appointment of a Representative. Rights and privileges of a Ratepayer shall cease upon the Ratepayer ceasing to be a Ratepayer, whether by ceasing to be shown on the applicable assessment role as being assessed for business assessments or by death or otherwise and, in the case of a corporate Ratepayer, by liquidation, winding-up, or bankruptcy.

Section 5

ANNUAL GENERAL AND OTHER MEETINGS

5.1 Annual General Meeting - The BIA shall hold an Annual General Meeting by November 25 in each calendar year at such a time and place in Calgary, Alberta as may be determined by the Board and, in addition to any other items of business, shall conduct the following business:

- a) adopt the minutes of the previous AGM;
- b) present the report of the Directors;
- c) present the audited financial statements of the BIA;
- d) Conduct voting for Directors as per Bylaw 6.5;
- e) appoint an auditor for the ensuing year.

5.2 Special Ratepayer's Meetings - May be called at any time and any place in Calgary by order of 50% of the members of the Board. Special Ratepayer's Meetings may also be called by the President or Secretary of the Board upon receipt of a petition signed by 33% of the Ratepayers setting out the reasons for calling the meeting. A detailed agenda will be provided describing the purpose and any motions that are to be presented at the meeting. Only matters as set out in the notice for the Special Ratepayer's Meeting will be addressed at the meeting and no other business will be discussed. The required notice will be as per section 5.5 and quorum will be as per section 5.7.

5.3 Public Meetings - The Board of Directors may, at their discretion, hold regular public meetings open to the members of the BIA and/or the general public.

5.4 In-Camera Board Meetings - May be held to conduct the ongoing business of the BIA as determined by the Board.

5.5 Notice - Notice of the time and place of all Special Ratepayer's Meetings and Annual General Meetings will be communicated primarily by mail to each Ratepayer based on the address provided on the current business assessment role as provided by The City of Calgary. Notices may be delivered by another method, such as email, if the Ratepayer should request it. Such notice must be given 21 days in advance. When calculating the number of days notice required, the day of service shall be counted and the day upon which such notice expires shall not be counted.

5.6 Error in Notice - No error or omission in giving notice of any meeting shall invalidate such meeting or make void any proceedings taken at such meeting.

5.7 Quorum - For all purposes the quorum for a Special Ratepayer's Meeting or Annual General Meeting shall be ten (10) Ratepayers or their Representatives. No business shall be transacted unless the requisite quorum is present at the commencement of the meeting.

5.8 Adjournment - In the event that a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time called for the meeting, any Special Ratepayer's Meeting or Annual General Meeting shall stand adjourned to a time and place determined by a majority of the Ratepayers in attendance. No notice shall be required of any such adjournment and such adjournment may be made notwithstanding that no quorum is present. If at such adjourned meeting a quorum is not present, the Ratepayers or their Representatives who are present and entitled to vote shall be deemed to be a quorum and may transact all business in which a quorum might have done. Notice for adjourned meetings shall be a minimum of 7 business days and the method of notice will be as determined by those present at the first meeting.

5.9 President - The President shall preside at every Special Ratepayer's Meeting and Annual General Meeting and, in his or her absence, the Vice-President, and if neither of these are present, or if at any Annual General Meeting they are not present within 30 minutes after the time called for the Annual General Meeting, the Ratepayers and Representatives present and entitled to vote shall choose one of the members of the Board present and willing to act as the President for that Special Ratepayer's Meeting or Annual General Meeting.

5.10 Right to Vote - Every Ratepayer or his or her Representative shall be entitled to one vote each in respect of each matter that is the subject of a vote at any Ratepayer's Meeting or Annual General Meeting. The President may request a form of identification from the Ratepayer or Representative at the Annual General Meeting.

5.11 Resolutions - At any Special Ratepayer's Meeting or Annual General Meeting, a resolution shall be passed by a majority vote of the persons present and entitled to vote; other than with respect to those matters requiring adoption by Special Resolution, which shall be passed by a vote of not less than 66% of the persons present and entitled to vote.

5.12 Vote by Show of Hands - At every Special Ratepayer's Meeting or Annual General Meeting, every question except the voting in of the new Board shall be decided in the first instance by a show of hands, unless before or upon the declaration of the result by the show of hands, the President determines to conduct the vote by secret ballot or a secret ballot be demanded by at least two (2) persons present and entitled to vote.

5.13 Secret Ballot - If a secret ballot is demanded on any question other than the election of the Board, or the question of adjournment, it should be taken in such manner as the President of the meeting directs. The results of the secret ballot shall be deemed a resolution of the matter for which the secret ballot was demanded.

Section 6

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

6.1 Management and Administration of the BIA - In accordance with the City Bylaw, the Municipal Government Act and these Bylaws, the management of the affairs of the BIA shall reside with the Board of Directors, which shall consist of no more than ten (10) Directors. Should the Board fall below 5 Directors, they will execute the process in 6.13 vacancies. The Directors may delegate all or any part of the management and administration of the affairs to officers, employees or subcontractors of the BIA.

6.2 Election of Directors - The Board of Directors shall be nominated as per Bylaw 6.5(b).

6.3 Change in Circumstance - Should there be more than one representative from one Ratepayer due to a merger, change in career or other circumstance, one person representing such Ratepayer shall resign prior to the next Annual General Meeting. In the event that any member of the Board ceases to be a Ratepayer or employee of a Ratepayer, that person shall notify the Board and shall submit his or her resignation in writing to the Board or become an Associate Member of the Board if the Board agrees until the next AGM.

6.4 Associate Members - Associate Members shall include persons who are not Ratepayers whom the Ratepayers, at their discretion, vote in as members of the Board at the Annual General Meeting. A maximum of two Board positions at any given time may be filled by Associate Members. Associate Members can only be elected to the Board if there are not enough Ratepayers running for open or vacant Board positions. Associate Board Members are not able to vote at Ratepayer's Meetings or Annual General Meetings but can vote at regular Board meetings. Associate Members are appointed for one year, at which time the appointment may be renewed at the AGM.

6.5 Election and Nomination Procedures

An election shall be carried out annually to appoint Directors. Those appointments are subject to ratification by Council. The election shall be carried out as follows:

- (a) A Notice of an Annual General Meeting and of nomination procedures shall be given by the Secretary or designated representative to all Ratepayers;
- (b) Nominations shall be submitted to the Nominating Committee 30 days prior to the AGM. Nominees must be a ratepayer and be seconded by another ratepayer. Each ratepayer shall be entitled have a maximum of one

person nominated. Nominations will only be accepted from the AGM floor if there are not enough nominees to fill all the vacancies.

- (c) Upon determining that no further nominations are forthcoming, the Secretary or such other person as may have been designated by the Board shall arrange for a vote by secret ballot from among the persons attending the Annual General Meeting who are entitled to vote. Each Ratepayer shall be entitled to one (1) vote and each Ratepayer shall be entitled to vote for the number of candidates required to fill the available positions ;
- (d) If the persons nominated for appointment to the Board are equal to or less than the number of Directors to be nominated the President shall, following the close of nominations, declare those persons elected by acclamation. As per section 6.4, Associate Members can only be elected to the Board if there are not enough Ratepayers running for open or vacant positions. Nominations and elections for Associate Members shall be handled in the same manner as for Ratepayer positions.
- (e) The Secretary, and one or more scrutineers, shall receive the ballots, examine them, decide their validity, count the votes and declare the number of votes and who has been elected to the Board;
- (f) If there should be a tie between two or more people then there shall be a run-off vote in which each Ratepayer shall be entitled to vote for one person;
- (g) The Secretary shall advise the City Clerk of The City of Calgary of the names of the persons elected by the Ratepayers for appointment by Council to the Board;
- (h) The retirement of an outgoing member of the Board and the appointment of his or her successor shall both be effective on the appointment of the successor.

The President may appoint one or more scrutineers to assist in the election of persons nominated for appointment to the Board, and may request representatives of the City of Calgary to assist in checking the eligibility of persons to vote at the Annual Meeting. A scrutineer need not be a person who is qualified to vote at the meeting.

6.6 Director's Powers - The Board may administer the affairs of the BIA in all things and make or cause to be made, for and in the name of the BIA, any kind of contract which a person may lawfully enter into. The powers of the Board shall, at all times, be subject to and exercised in accordance with the provisions of the Municipal Government Act and any other applicable Law.

6.7 Appointment of Executive Director - The Directors may, from time to time, appoint an Executive Director or General Manager who shall manage and administer the BIA under the discretion of the Board.

6.8 BIA Funds - The Board shall have the power to spend the funds of the BIA in accordance with its annual budget to be approved by Council.

6.9 Qualification of Directors - Except as otherwise provided herein, any individual of sound mind who, has attained the age of majority in the Province of Alberta, who is not insolvent or bankrupt, and who is a Ratepayer or Associate Member in good standing with the BIA may be a Director of the BIA.

6.10 President - The President shall be elected by the Members of the Board at a meeting of the Board following the Annual General Meeting. Associate Members are not eligible to run for or fill the President position.

6.11 Term - Directors shall be elected to serve for a term of two (2) years. Directors may be re-appointed or re-elected upon completion of their term of office. Directors shall only be a member of the Executive Committee for a maximum of 3 consecutive terms (6 years) but may remain on the Board as a Director for longer than 6 years (if re-elected). A Director shall cease to hold office on the expiry of his or her term when a successor is appointed.

6.12 Meetings of the Board

- a) Meetings - The Board shall hold at least six (6) Board meetings each calendar year at such times and places within Calgary as the Board may decide.
- b) Notice - Notice of the time and place of all meetings of Directors, and of the general nature of the business to be transacted at such meetings, shall be communicated in a manner previously agreed upon by the Board and sent a minimum of five business days in advance of such meeting.
- c) Operational Meeting - An operational meeting or special meeting of the Board may be called at any time by the President or by any two (2) members of the Board. Notice of such special meeting shall be given to each Director at least 72 hours in advance and shall state the time, place and purpose of the meeting. Any decisions taken by the Board during an operational or special meeting are subject to review and ratification at the next normally constituted Board meeting.
- d) Quorum - The presence of 50% of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at all meetings including regular Board meetings. In the event that a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time called for the meeting, the meeting shall stand adjourned to a time and place determined by a majority of those in attendance.
- e) Voting - Questions arising at any meeting of the Board shall be decided by a majority of votes cast on the question. All votes at any such meeting shall be taken by ballot if so demanded by any Director present, but otherwise, shall be by assent or dissent. A declaration by the President that a resolution has been carried and an entry to that effect in the minutes shall be prima facie evidence

of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favor of, or against, such resolution. The President is eligible to vote. Agents and employees, including the Executive Director of the BIA, may attend the Board meetings but are not entitled to vote on any matters or resolutions put forward to the Board.

- f) Resolution in Writing - A resolution in writing or by valid electronic response signed or sent by all the members of the Board shall be valid and effective as if it had been passed at a meeting of the Board, duly called and constituted. Resolutions made in writing must be ratified at the next regular Board meeting.
- g) Resolution When a Director is Absent from Meeting - Where a Director has reasonable cause, as determined by the President, for being unable to attend a meeting of the Board, such Director may request in advance of the meeting that the President circulate a resolution in writing to all Directors on any question scheduled to be voted upon by the Directors at the meeting. Such resolution in writing shall take the place and be in lieu of a vote by the Directors on such question at the meeting.
- h) Continuous absence of Director - If a director is absent from three (3) consecutive Board meetings or four (4) meetings per year without reasonable cause, the Board may declare his or her position vacant by a majority of 66% vote of the Board.

6.13 Vacancies - Vacancies on the Board, however caused, may, so long as a minimum of five (5) Directors remains in the office, be filled by the Directors by simple majority vote at a regular Board meeting. Interim Directors shall serve with the full authority of Directors from the date of their appointment by the Board until the date of the next Annual General Meeting. Directors appointed mid-way through the year may be candidates for re-election for a full two-year term at the next Annual General Meeting.

If there is not a minimum of five (5) Directors, the remaining Directors shall forthwith call a Special Ratepayer's Meeting within 45 days to fill the vacancies. The existing Board members shall function as a full Board until this meeting is held. If the vacancies have not been filled by either of the methods above, such vacancies shall be filled at the next Annual General Meeting. The remaining Board members will conduct business as if they were a full Board until the next AGM.

6.14 Resignation - Any Director may resign from the Board upon written notice to the Board.

6.15 Expulsion or Removal from the Board - The Board may, by a vote of not less than 66% of the Directors, remove a Director before the expiration of their term in office for one or more of the following reasons (or for other reasons as determined by the Board):

- a) The Director is likely to endanger the interest or reputation of the BIA, including dereliction of duties, or

- b) The Director commits a breach of the Bylaws, the Terms of Reference or Conflict of Interest policy.

No Director shall be removed without being notified in writing of the reasons for removal from the Board. A Director who has been removed from the Board may, if they object to the reasons for dismissal, request that a Special Ratepayer's Meeting be held to decide on the matter. A request for a Special Ratepayer's Meeting must be received by the Board within 7 business days. The meeting must be held not less than 21 days and not more than 45 days from the time the request is received. The Director will cease to be a Member of the Board until the meeting is held. The vacant position on the Board cannot be filled if a Special Ratepayer's Meeting is requested. Should the Ratepayers in attendance support the Board's decision, then the vacant position can be filled at that time by nomination from the floor and vote by the Ratepayers. If the Ratepayers do not support the Board's decision to remove the Director then the Director will be reinstated.

6.16 Liability of Directors - Every Director or other Officer of the BIA is deemed to have assumed office on the express understanding, agreement and condition that such Director or Officer, along with his or her heirs, executors, administrators or estate, as the case may be, is and shall be indemnified and saved harmless out of the funds of the BIA (including its insurance, if any) from and against all costs, claims, charges and expenses whatsoever which such Director or Officer sustains or incurs as the result of or in any way arising from or relating to his or her duties and powers of office or other acts taken or made on behalf of the BIA, except where such cost, claim, charge or expense is incurred as the result of willful, fraudulent, malicious, dishonest or unlawful conduct.

6.17 Remuneration - No Director shall be remunerated for services provided to the BIA as a Director but shall be reimbursed for reasonable personal expenses incurred on behalf of the BIA in the course of fulfilling their duties as Directors. Any such expenses must be approved by the Board. Profits or other accretions of the BIA shall not be used for promoting Director's personal objectives.

6.18 Resources of the BIA - No Director has the power to legally obligate the Association in any manner whatsoever without the prior approval of the Board. No Director shall take upon himself or herself to commit the time, resources or finances of the BIA, its Board or its staff without prior approval of such a commitment at a duly constituted meeting of the Board.

Section 7

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

7.1 Conflict of Interest Policy - All Directors will be asked to sign a Conflict of Interest Policy. The Board of Directors will maintain, adhere to and update the Conflict of Interest policy accordingly.

7.2 A-Political - The focus of the BIA shall be on developing and promoting the business area. As such, meetings and events should be a-political in nature, and not be designed to serve the needs of election candidates.

Section 8

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

8.1 Committees of the Board - The Board may appoint various Standing Committees or Ad Hoc Committees to fulfill some of the duties of the association of the BIA or to advise the Board on specific matters.

8.2 Standing Committees - Standing Committees are established by the Board and include, but are not limited to, the Streetscape Committee, Marketing Committee and Civic Affairs (or Development) Committee, and Nominating Committee.

8.3 Ad Hoc Committees - The Board may create Ad Hoc Committees for specific duties not included in the mandate of the Standing Committees. Ad Hoc Committees shall be established by a motion of the Board, and shall include the purpose, budget, reporting procedures and the time frame for the committee's existence.

8.4 Chairperson - At the first Board meeting following the Annual General Meeting, the Board will appoint the Chairperson for each Standing Committee. The Chairperson for each Standing Committee must be a Board Member. The Chairperson of each committee shall solicit committee members and report the committee membership to the Board. The Chairperson can replace individuals who have left the committee or add new members to the committee, with the provision that these changes in committee membership shall be duly reported to the Board and the next regular Board meeting following the changes for ratification or rejection by the Board as a whole. Chairpersons for Advisory and Ad Hoc committees may be changed at the discretion of the Board.

8.5 Committee Membership - Membership of any committee will be documented in the committee Terms of Reference and may include Ratepayers, non-ratepayers, and Directors who can provide specific knowledge or expertise.

8.6 Record Keeping – Each Chairperson shall keep the Board apprised of their committee's activities by:

- a. providing a copy of all committee meeting minutes, including motions arising, to the President, and
- b. providing an update of the committee's activities at each Board meeting.

8.7 Executive Committee

- a) The Executive Committee consists of the President, the Vice-President, the Treasurer and the Secretary. If necessary, a director may fill multiple roles as determined by the Board.
- b) The Executive Committee can meet without prior consent of the Board.
- c) The Executive Committee carries out duties assigned by the Board.

Section 9

EMPLOYEES & CONTRACTORS

9.1 Appointment - The Board of Directors may from time to time appoint such officers and agents and authorize the employment of such other persons as they deem necessary to carry out the purposes of the BIA and such officers, agents and employees shall have such authority and shall perform such duties as from time to time may be prescribed by the Board.

9.2 Contracting Out - The Board may recruit specific expertise and contract out certain projects.

Section 10

OFFICERS

10.1 Officers - The members of the Executive Committee will be the Officers of the Board. The Executive Director may also be an Officer if appointed by the Board.

10.2 Appointment of Officers - Officers shall be appointed from time to time by the Directors from the members of the Board. The terms of each of the Officers will expire each year following Annual General Meeting. Officers may be re-appointed by majority vote of the Directors upon re-election by the Board.

10.3 Duties of the Officers:

a) The President:

- Chairs all Ratepayer's meeting and meetings of the Board;
- Chairs the Executive Committee;
- Oversees the affairs and operations of the BIA;
- Provides a report to the Ratepayers at the AGM;
- Co-ordinates the overall functioning of the Board and delegates duties accordingly; and
- Carries out other duties as directed by the Board.

b) The Vice-President:

- Exercises the duties and powers of the President during their absence;
- Assists the President in any reasonable way to ensure the proper functioning of the Association; and
- Carries out other duties as directed by the Board.

c) The Treasurer:

- Oversees the management and reporting of the organization's finances;
- Makes sure all monies paid to the BIA are recorded and deposited in the BIA's bank account;
- Presents a full detailed account of the Association's financial position as requested; and
- Carries out other duties as directed by the Board.

d) The Secretary:

- Attends all Ratepayer's meetings and meetings of the Board and records all facts and minutes. In case of the absence of the Secretary, their duties shall be filled by such Director as may be appointed by the Board;
- Oversees all correspondence of the Board;
- Sends, or oversees other Directors to send, all notices to the various meetings as required; and
- Carries out other duties as directed by the Board.

The duties of the Secretary, may, in part, be delegated to an employee of the BIA as may be designated by the Board, but in such event, the Secretary or another Board member shall maintain overall supervision and responsibility for those duties.

Section 11

INSURANCE

11.1 Coverage - The BIA shall keep in force a policy or policies of insurance providing the following coverage:

- a) General Liability Insurance, including loss or damage resulting from bodily injury or death, loss or damage to property, and for liability arising out of group activities organized by the BIA;
- b) Directors and Officers liability insurance ; and
- c) Any other coverage directed by the Board from time to time.

The particulars of the aforesaid coverage and of the limits of coverage shall be determined by the Board from time to time.

Section 12

EXECUTION OF DOCUMENTS

12.1 Deeds, etc. - Deeds, transfers, licenses, contracts and engagements on behalf of the BIA shall be signed by two Directors acting together, or by such other persons as may be designated from time to time by the Board.

12.2 Cheques - Two Officers of the Association shall sign all cheques drawn on the Association's bank accounts. The principal signing Officers are the President, the Vice-President and the Treasurer. The Executive Director may also be a signing Officer if approved by the Board.

12.3 Contracts - All contracts of the BIA must be signed by two Officers or other persons authorized to do so. The Board may decide, in certain circumstances, to alter the number of signing authorities.

12.4 Seal - the Board may adopt the use of a seal of the BIA. The Board will determine custody and authorization of the use of the seal.

Section 13

AUDIT AND FINANCIAL

13.1 Accounting Principles - The books and accounts of the BIA shall be kept in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) or other recognized association. There must be an audit of the books, accounts and records of the BIA at least once each year. A qualified accountant appointed at each AGM must complete this audit.

13.2 Annual Report - The Treasurer or other Officer designated by the Board shall, in each fiscal year, submit to Council an annual report and audited financial statements in the form prescribed by Council.

13.3 Deposit of Securities - The securities of the BIA shall be deposited for safekeeping with one or more banks, trust companies or other financial institutions to be selected by the Board of Directors. Any and all securities so deposited may be withdrawn, from time to time, only upon the written order of the BIA signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents of the BIA and in such manner as shall, from time to time, be determined by resolution of the Board and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. The institutions which may be so selected as custodians by the Board shall be fully protected in acting in accordance with the directions of the Board and shall in no event be liable for the due application of the securities so withdrawn from deposit or the proceeds thereof.

13.4 Borrowing - The BIA may borrow or raise funds to meet its objectives and operations. The Board decides the amounts and methods to raise or borrow, however any borrowing must be ratified by Special Resolution at a Special Ratepayer's Meeting or AGM.

13.5 Fiscal Year - Unless otherwise determined by the Act or the City Bylaw the fiscal year-end of the BIA shall be the 31st day of December in each year.

13.6 No Fiscal Deficits - The BIA shall fund projects they can afford during the budget year, and not allow operational costs to create a deficit for the next year's board, with the exception of "capital projects" which may exceed the year with the motion of the Board. The Treasurer and Board will be advised in advance and approve of all financial plans for any given program.

Section 14

BOOKS AND RECORDS

14.1 Books and Records - The Directors shall see that all necessary books and records of the BIA required by the Act and Bylaws, or any other applicable statute or law, are regularly and properly kept.

14.2 Custody of Books and Records - The Secretary or other Officer specially charged by the Board with that duty shall maintain and have charge of the following:

- a) Minute Books - The minute books of the BIA, into which the Officer so charged shall record, or cause to be recorded therein minutes of proceedings of all meetings of Ratepayers and Directors.
- b) Objects - A copy of the Bylaw of Council creating the BIA, and any amendments thereto and a copy of the Bylaws of the BIA and any resolutions altering or adding thereto.

- c) Directors and Officers - A list of the full names, addresses and other occupations, if any, of the Directors and Officers of the BIA, the date on which each was appointed and the date on which each ceased to hold office.
- d) Resolutions - Copies or originals of all documents, resolutions and registers, including a register of Ratepayers.
- e) Books of Account - Books of account containing records of all sums of money received and expended by the BIA and the matters in respect of which the receipt and expenditure of money takes place.
- f) Revenues and Expenses - Books of account containing records of all revenues of and purchases by the BIA.
- g) Assets and Liabilities - Books containing records of the assets and liabilities of the BIA.
- h) Other Transactions - Books recording all other transactions affecting the financial position of the BIA.

14.3 Books of Account and Records - The books of account shall be kept at such place in Alberta as the Directors see fit, and shall at all times be open to inspection by the Directors. All Ratepayers shall be entitled to inspect the books of account and records of the BIA on 30 days notice in writing to the Secretary of the BIA.

Section 15

DISTRIBUTION OF PROPERTY ON DISSOLUTION

15.1 Dissolution - The BIA shall only be wound up by Bylaw of Council repealing the City Bylaw which created the BIA or as otherwise permitted by the Act.

15.2 Debts and Liabilities - Upon the dissolution of the Association and upon payments of all debts and liabilities, the remaining property of the Association shall be distributed to The City of Calgary.

Section 16

AMENDMENT OF BY-LAWS

16.1 Amendment - These Bylaws may only be rescinded, altered, amended, or added to, by Special Resolution at an Annual General Meeting or Special Ratepayer's Meeting. Any amendment to the Bylaws shall be effective from the date of resolution.

16.2 Repeal of Previous By-Laws - All previous Bylaws of the BIA are repealed as of the coming into force of these Bylaws.